
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 14-20007-CR-LENARD

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, :      

Plaintiff, :

vs. :    
                                 
ANGEL MARTINEZ-RAMOS, :

Defendant. :
_________________________________

DETENTION ORDER - RISK OF FLIGHT/DANGER 

On January 8, 2014, a hearing was held pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3142(f), to determine whether the defendant, ANGEL MARTINEZ-RAMOS, should

be detained prior to trial.  Having considered the factors enumerated in Title 18, United

States Code, Section 3142(g), the arguments of counsel, and the pre-trial services report,

this Court finds that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the

appearance of the defendant as required, and/or the safety of any other person and the

community.  Therefore, it is hereby ordered that the defendant, ANGEL MARTINEZ-

RAMOS, be detained prior to trial and until the conclusion thereof.

In accordance with the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 3142(i)(1),

this Court hereby makes the following findings of fact and statement of reasons for the

detention.

1. The defendant is charged by indictment, in the Southern District of Florida,

with conspiracy to import more than five kilograms of cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United

States Code, Section 952(a), all in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 963;

with importation of more than five kilograms of cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United
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States Code, Section 952(a) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2; and with

possession with intent to distribute more than five kilograms of cocaine, in violation of Title

21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

Therefore, the defendant is charged with a narcotics offense for which a maximum

sentence of more than ten (10) years is prescribed, resulting in a rebuttable presumption

that no condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the appearance of the

defendant at all future court proceedings, and/or the safety of any other person and the

community.  Title 18, United States Code, Section 3142(e) and (f).

2. The weight of the evidence against the defendant is substantial. The

government proffered that on or about December 19, 2013, agents in the Miami office of

the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”) received information from DEA agents in Bogota,

Colombia, regarding a load of narcotics that might be traveling to the United States in the

near future.  The information was that the carrier would be traveling with a government

passport and was believed to be an American military service member.  DEA agents

identified defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS as a possible suspect on an American Airlines

flight arriving into Miami International Airport on December 24, 2013. Defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS is a United States Navy SEAL, who left active duty in 2010 and is now

a member of the Naval Reserves.  In his capacity as a reserve SEAL, he frequently travels

on orders and on official business to Central and South America.  On December 24, 2013,

American Airlines Flight #1036 from Aruba arrived at Miami International Airport.  Customs

and Border Patrol (“CBP”) officers identified defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS as he departed

the aircraft and stopped him for questioning.  Defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS was carrying

a small black “Travelpro” carry-on suitcase.  Defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS stated he was

traveling alone.  CBP officers detained defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS for further

questioning.  CBP officers identified co-defendant Bibiana Marcela Lopez-Correa as she

departed the aircraft and stopped her for questioning.  CBP officers asked co-defendant
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Lopez-Correa if she was traveling with anyone and she said she was alone.  CBP officers

asked co-defendant Lopez-Correa where she was traveling to, and she stated that she was

in Colombia and was heading to New York City to meet up with her husband “David.”  Law

enforcement asked co-defendant Lopez-Correa if defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS was her

husband, to which she responded “yes.”  An abandoned black “Totto” carry-on suitcase

was located on the plane.  CBP officers asked co-defendant Lopez-Correa about the black

“Totto” suitcase, and she told officers that the black “Totto” suitcase belonged to her

husband, defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS.  Co-defendant Lopez-Correa stated that the

black “Travelpro” suitcase that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS was carrying, in fact,

belonged to her.  CBP officers accompanied defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS and co-

defendant Lopez-Correa to the Customs Enclosure located within the Miami International

Airport.  A CBP border authority search of defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS’ black “Totto”

suitcase revealed ten (10) brick shaped objects, wrapped in yellow tape, located

underneath a sweater and pair of boots inside the suitcase.  It was discovered that each

of the yellow objects contained approximately one kilogram each of a white, powdery

substance, which field-tested positive for the presence of cocaine, for a total of ten (10)

kilograms of cocaine.  A consent search of co-defendant Lopez-Correa’s black “Travelpro”

suitcase revealed personal items and clothing belonging to her.  Co-defendant Lopez-

Correa stated that earlier in the month, defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS told her to meet him

in Aruba before traveling together to the United States.  Co-defendant Lopez-Correa stated

that she agreed to meet defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS because she was going to divorce

him and needed to initiate divorce proceedings in the United States.  Co-defendant Lopez-

Correa stated that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS arrived in Aruba on December 20, 2013,

and she arrived in Aruba on December 23, 2013.  Co-defendant Lopez-Correa stated that

she first saw the black “Totto” suitcase on the evening of December 23, 2013.  Lopez-

Correa stated that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS packed the black “Totto” suitcase while

she was taking a shower and put some of her clothes in it.  Co-defendant Lopez-Correa
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stated that on December 24, 2013, defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS and she departed the

Tropicana Hotel in Aruba with both black suitcases.  Once at the Aruba airport, Lopez-

Correa went through security with the black “Travelpro” suitcase and defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS went through security with the black “Totto” suitcase.  Once they

passed through security, Lopez-Correa stated that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS went

to the bathroom with the black “Totto” suitcase.   After exiting the bathroom, defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS asked Lopez-Correa to purchase two one-day Admiral Passes to the

VIP lounge.  Lopez-Correa stated that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS again went to the

bathroom with the black “Totto” suitcase.  Lopez-Correa stated that after going to the gate

for their flight to Miami, defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS was paged for an additional security

screening and grabbed Lopez-Correa’s black “Travelpro” suitcase, leaving Lopez-Correa

with the black “Totto” suitcase.  Lopez-Correa stated that defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS

cleared security and boarded the plane with the black “Travelpro” suitcase.  Lopez-Correa

stated she then boarded the plane with the black “Totto” suitcase.  Lopez-Correa stated

that once they arrived at Miami International Airport, defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS

instructed her to stay on the plane until he called her via telephone.  He further instructed

her to tell law enforcement, if questioned, that she was traveling by herself, and that her

husband, whose name is David, lives in Virginia.  Lopez-Correa stated that defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS exited the aircraft with the black “Travelpro” suitcase.  Lopez-Correa

waited until the airplane was empty and, after not receiving a phone call from defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS, exited the aircraft without the black “Totto” suitcase.  Defendant

MARTINEZ-RAMOS and co-defendant Lopez-Correa were arrested at Miami International

Airport.  After defendant MARTINEZ-RAMOS was arrested, a search warrant was executed

on his house in Hampton, Virginia.  In the residence, law enforcement uncovered

paraphernalia of the drug trade, including drug testing kits, a money counter, a scale, a

vacuum sealer, vacuum sealing bags, and other packaging material.  Law enforcement also

found smoke grenades, flash-bang grenades, multiple firearms, and nearly nine thousand
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(9,000) rounds of ammunition. 

3. The pertinent history and characteristics of the defendant support pretrial

detention.  The defendant is 35 years old and was born in Puerto Rico.  Defendant is a

United States citizen, has a United States Passport, a Government Passport and Navy

SEAL Credentials.  Defendant advised that his United States Passport was seized by the

arresting agents.  The defendant has traveled to Aruba for leisure, and has extensive

foreign travel for work purposes, as he has been a Navy SEAL for the past 14 years.  The

defendant resides alone in his home in Virginia, and has been residing there permanently

for the past three months.  Prior to September, 2013, he has resided between his home in

Virginia and Honduras, Belize, El Salvador and Guatemala.  From 2004 through 2010, he

lived full time at the home in Virginia.  Prior to 2004, defendant resided in Chicago, Illinois;

Miami, Florida and Puerto Rico.  Defendant’s father resides in Puerto Rico and his mother

is deceased.  Defendant has four siblings: a sister who resides in Williamsburg, Virginia;

a maternal half sister who resides in Aurora, Illinois; and two paternal half brothers who

reside in Puerto Rico.  The defendant’s first marriage ended in divorce and no children

were born of that union.  The defendant married co-defendant Lopez-Correa in Virginia in

2009, and they have one daughter who is three years old.  Defendant’s daughter is

currently in the care of his sister-in-law in Colombia.  Title 18, United States Code, Section

3142(g)(3)(A).

4. Although the defendant is a United States citizen,  is a member of the United

States Military Service and has substantial family ties in the United States, because of the

nature and seriousness of the offense, the defendant’s extensive travel outside of the

United States and, of particular concern to this Court, the fact that he is a Navy SEAL with

extensive training and ability to blend in, the undersigned believes that the defendant would

not appear if released on bond.  The Court specifically finds, by a preponderance of the
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evidence, that there are no conditions or combination of conditions which will reasonably

assure the defendant's appearance as required.  Title 18, United States Code, Section

3142(e)

5. Based on the seriousness of the alleged offense, and the amount and type

of weapons found at defendant’s home, defendant constitutes a danger to persons and the

community.  The Court specifically finds by clear and convincing evidence, that there are

no conditions or combination of conditions which will reasonably assure the safety of other

persons and the community.

The Court hereby directs:

(a) Defendant be detained without bond;

(b) That the defendant be committed to the custody of the Attorney
General for confinement in a corrections facility separate, to the extent
practical, from persons awaiting or serving sentences or being held in
custody pending appeal;

(c) That the defendant be afforded reasonable opportunity for private
consultation with counsel; and

(d) That, on order of a court of the United States or on request of an attorney for
the Government, the person in charge of the corrections facility in which the
defendant is confined deliver the defendant to a United States Marshal for
the purpose of an appearance in connection with a court proceeding.

            DONE AND ORDERED at Miami, Florida, this 22nd day of January, 2014.   

                                                                
PATRICK A. WHITE

         UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
Copies provided to: 
United States Attorney's Office
Mark A. Levine, Esq.
United States Pretrial Services
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